IN THE SUPREME COURT OF STATE OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MISSISSIPPI STATE UNIVERSITY AND MISSISSIPPI INSTITUTIONS OF HIGHER LEARNING, SELF-INSURED

APPELLANTS

VS.

CASE NO. 2008-WC-00340-COA

BRUCE PANUSKA

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANTS

[ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF OKTIBBEHA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI AND FROM THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION]

> ORAL ARGUMENT IS REQUESTED <

JOSEPH T. WILKINS, III (MSB No WILKINS, STEPHENS & TIPTON, P.A. Post Office Box 13429
Jackson, Mississippi 39236-3429
Telephone: (601) 366-4343

Telefax: (601) 981-7608

E-mail: jwilkins@wilkins-law.com

Attorney for Appellants

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Did the Administrative Judge and the Full Commission use the wrong legal standard in ruling that the two-year statute of limitations had not run?
- 2. Did the Administrative Judge and the Full Commission commit reversible error in ruling that the failure to file a Form B-3 precluded the employer and carrier from alleging the affirmative defense of the two-year statute of limitations, § 71-3-35?
- 3. Did the Administrative Judge and the Full Commission commit reversible error in not providing a finding of fact as to when Dr. Panuska knew as a reasonable man that his condition was compensable in accordance with <u>Howard Industries</u>, <u>Inc. v. Robinson</u>, 846 So.2d 245 (Miss. App. 2002)?
- 4. Does the doctrine of estoppel or *res judicata* preclude argument by the appellants that the two-year statute of limitations has now time barred Dr. Panuska's claim?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY.

The Claimant/Appellee, Bruce Panuska, filed his *Petition to Controvert* on February 7, 2002, alleging that he received a compensable injury due to a board striking his head while at work. The Employer-Carrier/Appellants, Mississippi State University and Mississippi Institute of Higher Learning (hereinafter "MSU"), answered admitting that Appellee had suffered an injury in the course and scope of his employment but denied that it was compensable due to the Appellee's failure to file his petition prior to the tolling of the statute of limitations.

The Appellants filed a Motion to Dismiss the claim based upon the two-year statute of limitations (§ 71-3-35) averring that since Dr. Panuska was injured on March 27, 1999 and no Petition to Controvert was filed until February 12, 2002, a date which is 47 weeks and 4 days following the running of the two-year period from the date of the accident. Medical records of treating physicians were introduced by joint motion of the parties. On May 9, 2003, the Administrative Judge denied the Motion to Dismiss; acknowledged two separate medical conditions occurred on March 27, 1999, and that the statute of limitations began running only for Dr. Panuska's cerebral concussion injury. That the statute did not begin to run for the labyrinthine concussion until September 6, 2000, the date that condition was first diagnosed by Dr. Fetterman. No finding of fact is contained in this Order as to when Dr. Panuska knew, as a reasonable man, that his condition was compensable.

This Order was resubmitted to the Administrative Judge by a Motion to Reconsider and was denied by Order dated July 14, 2003.

An Interlocutory Appeal was filed on July 25, 2003 and the Full Commission affirmed the Administrative Judge's Order of May 9, 2003, denying dismissal of the claim.

Orders denying dismissal of the claim for benefits was incorporated in the Order on the Hearing on the Merits dated August 1, 2006. This Order contained no findings of fact as to Dr. Panuka's knowledge of his injury being compensable, addressing only that Dr. Panuska suffered an injury on March 27, 1999, was disabled, etc.

Motions to reconsider were denied and the Full Commission affirmed the Administrative Law Judge's ruling refusing to dismiss the claim.

The Commission was not aware of the appeal pending in the Court of Appeals in the case of Parchman v. Amwood Products, Inc., 2007 WL 239509 (Miss. App. 2007). (R.E. 11). This case was affirmed by the Court of Appeals on January 30, 2007. However, on June 12, 2008, this case was ruled upon by the Mississippi Supreme Court on Writ of Certiorari. Parchman, supra, is pertinent in that it distinguishes or overrules Holbrook and Martin, two cases utilized by the Commission to estop the appellants from alleging the affirmative defense of the two-year statute of limitations, § 71-3-35. Parchman allowed the employer to assert the two-year statute of limitations defense. Parchman was reversed on June 12, 2008 in 2006-CT-00075-SCT but addressed only the issue of the tolling of the statute of limitations. (R.E. 12). Accordingly, the issue of utilization of the affirmative defense, still stands.

The decision of the Administrative Judge was appealed to the Full Commission by the employer and carrier on August 21, 2006. The Full Commission affirmed the Order of the Administrative Judge in its Order dated February 6, 2007. Appeal was timely filed February 14, 2007 to the Circuit Court.

No Order of the Administrative Judge or the Full Commission had any finding of fact as to when Dr. Panuska should have known that his head injury condition was compensable.

The Circuit Judge of Oktibbeha County affirmed the decision of the Full Commission.

Appeal of that decision is made to the Mississippi Court of Appeals.

III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On February 7, 2002, the Appellee filed his *Petition to Controvert* alleging a work-related injury resulting from being struck in the head with a board. Appellee alleges that as a

result of his work-related injury, he is now permanently disabled. Appellants answered, admitting that the Appellee suffered an injury in the course and scope of his employment, but denied that his injuries were compensable due to the fact that the Appellee failed to file a claim until after the two-year statute of limitations had expired. A hearing was held in this matter on April 3, 2006. At the hearing, the Appellee testified and the depositions of Dr. Jimmy Miller, Dr. Donna Harrington, Dr. Bruce Fetterman, Glenda Tranum and Donald Woodall were made an official part of the record.

The Appellee is a fifty-four year old male. He is wed to Carla Panuska, an employee of the Mississippi State University Veterinary School. The two were married in June 2002. Appellee has no children. The Appellee received his doctorate from the University of Alaska in 1974. The Appellee began teaching at Mississippi State University in 1991 until his resignation in 2002. At the time of his resignation, the Appellee was an associate professor in the Department of Geosciences. (R. Vol. 7, p.8).

A. JOB FUNCTION.

As an associate professor at Mississippi State University, the Appellee routinely taught three courses per semester. Those three courses, would typically have three hours of lecture time per week. (R. Vol. 7, pp.13-14). While teaching, the Appellee stated that he was required to use a slide projector pretty much every day. (R. Vol. 7, p.15). The courses might also include laboratory courses. The Appellee testified that he did not teach the introductory course labs, but would teach the advanced labs. In addition to teaching, the Appellee was required to attend faculty meetings at the university. (R. Vol. 7, p.17).

The Appellee testified that research was also a part of his duties as an associate professor. (R. Vol. 7, p.14). Examples of the Appellee's research assignments included geological studies in Alaska and the Bahamas during the summer. (R. Vol. 7, p.14). The Appellee also testified that he worked Puerto Rico performing paleomagnetic work. (R. Vol. 7, p.14). The Appellee testified that there were instances in which he would escort students to Virginia, Colorado, and Costa Rica in the summer to give the students research experience. (R. Vol. 7, p.15).

The effects of the injury were readily apparent to Dr. Panuska. His teaching duties were altered because of his fatigue and he utilized a handicapped parking space to minimize walking to his office from his car. (R.E. 13, pp.8-13).

In the fall semester of 1999, he had cut back to two classes to teach because of his fatigue. (R.E. 13, p.32). Dr. Panuska cancelled a trip to Guam because of difficulty traveling. (R.E. 13, pp.35-36). Dr. Panuska requested a letter from Dr. Miller excusing him from flying. (R.267). Dr. Panuska admitted his condition still caused problems involving fatigue, sluggish movements, etc., which caused problems with his workers' compensation carrier. (R.E. 13, pp.36-37). These conditions suffered by Dr. Panuska made the disabling nature of his injury quite clear during the year 1999. He made arrangements for teaching changes, reduction in his activities, etc. He contacted the insurance carrier about treatment and medical care.

B. INJURY AND SUBSEQUENT TREATMENT.

The Appellee was injured on March 27, 1999 while employed at Mississippi State University after a board struck him in the head. Dr. Panuska went to the emergency room the

day of the accident, and was told to take it easy and rest a lot. (R. Vol. 7, p.9). The Appellee followed up with Dr. McKibben, a family physician, on March 31, 1999 as a result of experiencing severe symptoms. (R. Vol. 7, p.10). Dr. McKibben performed an CT can and diagnosed the Appellee with a hemorrhagic concussion. (R. Vol. 7, p.10).

Dr. McKibben referred the Appellee to Dr. Jimmy Miller at the Neurosurgical Center in Southaven, Mississippi. Dr. Miller testified that he first saw the Appellee on April 5, 1999. (R.E. 14, p.5:9-10). The Appellee indicated to Dr. Miller that he had pain in the front of his skull and forehead area, which would last about thirty seconds. (R.E. 14, p.5:15-16). The Appellee also alleged that he felt like he was in a mental fog and was having difficulty with concentration, change in direction, fatigue, balance and tightness in his facial muscles. (R.E. 14, p.5:16-24). After evaluating the Appellee and reviewing his CT scan, Dr. Miller testified that it was his opinion that the Appellee suffered from a cerebral contusion. (R.E. 14, p.7:24).

Dr. Miller testified that he saw the Appellee again on May 3, 1999. (R.E. 14, p.8:8). The Appellee had returned in regard to a diving trip which he had planned for the summer. Dr. Miller testified that he advised against the diving trip because Dr. Panuska was still having symptoms, and that he was worried about a possible seizure disorder. (R.E. 14, p.9:17-24). Dr. Miller testified that during the May 3, 1999 visit, he scheduled a MRA and MRI scan to evaluate possible endocranial aneurysm and to look at the contusion. (R.E. 14, pp.9:29-10:1-2). Dr. Miller testified that those tests indicated that the brain was normal. (R.E. 14, p.10:28). Dr. Miller testified that the it was his understanding that the Appellee had an appreciation of his injury and was informed that his injury was related to being struck in the head March 27, 1999.

(R.E. 14, p.12:8-25). Dr. Miller testified that in January 2000, during the course of his treatment of Appellee, Dr. Panuska appreciated the seriousness of his condition. (R.E. 14, p.19). Furthermore, Dr. Miller testified that the Appellee never stated that his condition could have been caused by something else. (R.E. 14, p.19). Additionally, Dr. Miller testified that he never considered the Appellee's injury to be a latent injury and that, in his opinion, Dr. Panuska's condition when he saw Appellee in January 2000 related back to Appellee's March 1999 injury. (R.E. 14, pp.27-28). Dr. Miller ultimately referred Appellee to Dr. Donna Harrington, a neurologist, in January of 2000. Dr. Miller never took Appellee off work.

Dr. Donna Harrington testified via deposition and treatment records. Dr. Harrington testified that she first saw Dr. Panuska on February 10, 2000, regarding Appellee's ongoing complaints of disequilibrium and vertigo. Dr. Harrington testified that the precipitating cause of Appellee's condition was Dr. Panuska's head trauma. (R.435). Dr. Harrington testified that she was treating Appellee for his symptomology and that she ultimately referred Appellee to the Shea Ear Clinic in August 2000. (R.436). Dr. Harrington testified that during the time that Appellee sought treatment from her, Dr. Panuska appreciated the seriousness of his condition, the fact that he had a condition that required medical attention, and that his condition was caused by the head trauma received in March of 1999. (R.437). Dr. Harrington never took Appellee off work.

Dr. Bruce Fetterman, a specialist in ear, hearing and balance disorders (otology/neurootology) testified via deposition. Dr. Fetterman testified that he first treated Dr. Panuska on September 6, 2000, wherein Appellee provided a history of being dizzy since being struck in the head with a 2 by 4 in March 1999. (R.E. 15, p.5:10-19). Dr. Fetterman testified that Appellee stated that he had symptoms of feeling dizzy, nauseated, and feeling light headed. (R.E. 15, pp.5:21-25, 6:1). Dr. Fetterman had several tests performed by audiologists, and he arrived at a diagnosis of inner ear or labyrinthine concussion, which he described as trauma to the inner ear causing disruption of the inner ear's balance function. Dr. Fetterman attributed this condition to the 1999 head injury. (R.E. 15, p.8). Dr. Fetterman prescribed physical therapy and home exercises designed to improve Appellee's balance.

Dr. Fetterman treated Appellee for the second time on May 2, 2002, a date Dr. Fetterman set as Appellee's maximum medical improvement date. He further stated that Appellee was permanently and totally disabled as far as working as a college professor. (R.E. 15, pp.13-14). Dr. Fetterman testified that it was his understanding that Dr. Panuska always knew what caused his condition for which he sought treatment in September 2000. (R.E. 15, p.30). Dr. Fetterman testified that there was never any doubt in his mind that Appellee's condition in September 2000 stemmed from his March 1999 injury. (R.E. 15, p.30). In addition, Dr. Fetterman testified that based on his conversations with Appellee, it was his opinion that Dr. Panuska told him that it was reasonably apparent to him (Panuska) that his condition came from the trauma to his head in March 1999. (R.E. 15, p.31). Dr. Fetterman testified that Appellee's condition was not a latent injury. (R.E. 15, p.32). Dr. Fetterman testified that, in his opinion, Appellee's condition was present since the beginning, and that Appellee appreciated and realized the seriousness of his injury. (R.E. 15, pp.32-33).

A physical therapist at the Oktibbeha County Hospital, Glenda Tranum, testified via her deposition. (R. Exh. Vol. 2, Gen. Exh. 4). Ms. Tranum testified that she provided physical therapy for Appellee prescribed by Dr. McKibben beginning on January 16, 2001. Ms. Tranum testified that her goals were to try and improve Dr. Panuska's balance. She testified that she treated Appellee until his last session held on March 2 ,2001, by which time, Appellee had plateaued and his symptoms had become less severe. Ms. Tranum testified that Appellee was very cooperative with treatment.

Donald E. Woodall testified via deposition regarding his report on behalf of the Appellee. (R. Exh. Vol. 2, Gen. Exh. 5). Mr. Woodall is a vocational rehabilitation expert and was retained to evaluate Appellee's prospects for employment. Mr. Woodall testified that it is his opinion that Appellee was incapable of returning to work.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE APPELLEE'S WORK-RELATED CLAIM AGAINST THE APPELLANTS IS TIME BARRED BY THE TWO-YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS PURSUANT TO MISS. CODE ANN. § 71-3-35 (1) (1972).

The Appellants contend that the two-year statute of limitations provision of Mississippi Code Annotated 1972, § 71-3-35 (1) barred Dr. Panuska's claim for benefits. Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-35 (1972). The statute reads as follows:

... Regardless of whether notice was received, if no payment of compensation (other than medical treatment or burial expense) is made and no application for benefits filed with the commission within two years from the date of the injury or death, the right to compensation therefor shall be barred.

"The two-year statute, by its terms, can bar the right to compensation, compensation being defined in § 71-3-3 (j) to include the money allowance payable to an injured worker." John R. Bradley, *Time Limitations Which Bar Claims in Mississippi Workers' Compensation: A Re-examination*, 62 Miss. L. J. 511 (Spr. 1993). It should be reiterated Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-35 (1) (1972) states that a claimant has only two years from the date of injury to file his claim rather than from the date of the accident. The Mississippi Supreme Court has interpreted this statutory language to mean that the two-year statute of limitations begins to run from the time a claimant, as a reasonable person, knew or should have known that he has had an industrial accident which has caused him an occupational disability. Tabor Motor Co. v. Garrard, 233 So.2d 811 (Miss. 1970); Struthers Wells-Gulfport, Inc. v. Bradford, 304 So.2d 645 (Miss. 1975); Pepsi Cola Bottling Co. of Tupelo, Inc. v. Long, 362 So.2d 182 (Miss. 1978).

The Administrative Judge ruled that the two-year statute ran for the cerebral concussion suffered on March 29, 1999; that two injuries were involved and the statute did <u>not</u> begin to run for the labyrinthine concussion until it was diagnosed on September 6, 2000. (R.E.4, pp.4-5).

The Full Commission (R.E. 6, 8, 9) and the Circuit Court (R.E. 10) adopted the original Order of finding two injuries and two separate start dates. This is not the legal standard for a non-latent injury. The start date begins with the injury date, March 27, 1999, or later in the year 1999 when Dr. Panuska experienced disability from his trauma.

Dunn, <u>Mississippi Worker's Compensation</u>, § 249 (3rd ed. 1982) states, ". . . if the claimant is aware of the injury at the time of the accident, the time begins to run despite the fact that the effects of the injury, in terms of the degree of disability, are not immediately apparent

to the fullest extent." Dunn, <u>Mississippi Worker's Compensation</u>, § 249 (3rd ed. 1982). Dunn goes on further to point out the following:

The true rule is that the running of the time for limitation or notice purposes begins when the claimant, as a reasonable man, should recognize the nature, seriousness and disabling nature of his problem and the disability is one of a probable compensable character, which, in turn, means only, and nothing more than, that the injury or disease is work-related. <u>Id</u>.

Hence, the standard is basically the claimant's reasonable recognition of his injury. It is not necessary that the claimant's knowledge be beyond a reasonable doubt, or to a degree of medical certainty. All that is required is that it be "reasonably apparent" to the claimant that the injury or disability arose out of and in the course of his/her employment. <u>Tabor Motor Co.</u>, 233 So.2d at 815.

The landmark case of Quaker Oats Co. v. Miller sets forth the standard for dismissal of a workers' compensation claim due to failure to file for benefits within the two-year period following injury referenced in Miss. Code Ann. § 71-3-35 (1972). Quaker Oats Co. v. Miller, 370 So.2d 1363 (Miss. 1979). Quaker Oats Co. v. Miller states that the statutory period will begin to run once the claimant, as a reasonable man, recognizes (1) the nature, (2) the seriousness, and (3) the probable compensable character of the injury or disease. Id. at 1366. In Quaker Oats Co. v, Miller, the claimant suffered from a progressive disease of which he was aware. Id. at 1364. He had been in consultation with medical doctors who had informed Mr. Miller of the nature and seriousness of his illness. Id. Miller left work eventually and later retired. Id. However, Miller did not know his disability entitled him to indemnity benefits, but regardless, the two-year limitation was held to have already begun. Id. at 1366. The claimant

in <u>Quaker Oats Co. v. Miller</u> knew the source of his illness and that the work performed aggravated the condition. <u>Id</u>.

This Court further explained that knowledge of a compensable injury means knowledge that a disabling injury is work-related. <u>Id</u>. Therefore, the Court ruled that the two-year statute of limitations had begun to run on March 31, 1973, when Mr. Miller left his job at Quaker Oats Company on sick leave. <u>Id</u>. It was at this point Mr. Miller, as a reasonable man, had actual knowledge about the nature, seriousness, and disabling character of his hypertension. <u>Id</u>. Therefore, Mr. Miller's claim was barred by the two-year statute of limitation. <u>Id</u>.

In <u>Benoist Elevator Co., Inc. v. Mitchell</u>, 485 So.2d 1068 (Miss. 1986), this Court followed the same standard set out in <u>Quaker Oats Co. v. Miller</u> to disallow an untimely claim involving the finger wherein Mr. Mitchell waited from 1959 until the year 1975 to file a claim. <u>Id</u>. Mitchell was informed by a doctor in 1959 that he had injured 15 percent of his finger and had a permanent partial disability. <u>Id</u>. The Commission Form B-31 was filed September 14, 1959. Id.

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