# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MISSISSIPPI STATE UNIVERSITY AND MISSISSIPPI INSTITUTIONS OF HIGHER LEARNING, SELF-INSURED

**APPELLANTS** 

**VERSUS** 

Case No. 2008-WC-00340-COA

**BRUCE PANUSKA** 

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF OKTIBBEHA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI AND FROM THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

#### **BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE**

**Oral Argument Not Requested** 

PATRICIA A. KILLGORE (MSB Notational Street Jackson, Mississippi 39216 Telephone: (601) 982-7855

Fax: (601) 982-7699

E-mail: PAKillgore@aol.com

Attorney for the Claimant/Appellee

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

A.

THE COMMISSION AND CIRCUIT COURT DECISIONS
THAT THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS HAS NOT EXPIRED
BECAUSE THE INJURY WAS NOT DISCOVERED UNTIL
SEPTEMBER 6, 2000 IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE
AND SHOULD BE AFFIRMED

When the Worker's Compensation Commission's findings of fact and order are supported by substantial evidence, all appellate courts are bound thereby. Champion Cable Const. Co., Inc. v. Monts, 511 So. 2d 924, 927 (Miss. 1987); Penrod Drilling Co. v. Etheridge, 487 So. 2d 1330, 1332 (Miss. 1986); Georgia-Pacific Corp. v. Veal, 484 So. 2d 1025, 1027 (Miss. 1986);and Evans v. Marko Planning, Inc. 447 So. 130, 132 (Miss. 1984). An Appellate Court can reverse the Commission's Order only if it finds that order clearly erroneous and contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Myles v. Rockwell International, 445 So. 2d 528, 536 (Miss. 1983). The Commission decision that the statute of limitations has not expired because the injury was not discovered until September 6, 2000 is supported by substantial evidence and should be affirmed.

The claimant sought medical treatment immediately after the accident and was diagnosed with a brain injury (a brain concussion and a brain contusion) by his family physician, a neurosurgeon and a neurologist. He was told by his doctors that his injury would resolve and that it just took time. He noticed that he would get dizzy and become disoriented and continued to seek medical treatment. The

doctors kept telling him that his symptoms would resolve. As the symptoms increased, he continued to seek medical treatment until his medical condition (a labyrinthine concussion — a traumatic injury to the inner ear) that was causing his symptoms was finally diagnosed on September 6, 2000 by an ear specialist. The brain injury or brain concussion/contusion (previously diagnosed by Dr. Miller and Dr. Harrington) was not causing the symptoms. (R. Exh. Vol. 1, Gen. Exh. 3, p. 37 & 38). An inner ear injury, about which no one knew until September 6, 2000, was causing the symptoms. The Petition to Controvert was filed on February 7, 2002 which is within two years of the date that the injury became apparent.

The claimant, Mr. Panuska, could not have known of the compensable nature of his injuries because, although he continued to seek treatment, even his physicians remained unaware of the compensable nature of his injuries until September 6, 2000. The statute of limitations begins to run when the claimant is or reasonably should be aware of having a compensable injury, but the statute is deemed not to have begun running if the claimant's reasonably diligent efforts to obtain treatment yield no medical confirmation of compensable injury. see *Georgia Pacific Corp. v. Taplin*, 586 So. 2d 823 (Miss. 1991). The statute of limitations in this case, therefore, did not begin to run until September 6, 2000 and since the petition to controvert was filed within two years of this date, the Administrative Judge's Order was properly affirmed by the Full Commission and the Circuit Court.

When this injury occurred, Mr. Panuska was told by Dr. Miller that he had a contusion, a brain injury, and that his symptoms would resolve. (R. Exh. Vol 2, Gen. Exh. 6, p. 73 & 74). This is confirmed by Dr. Miller's note of May 3, 1999 (R.

Vol. 4, p. 268) explaining that Mr. Panuska had been under his care for a hemorrhagic concussion and that effects of his condition are likely to last at least through the month of June.

When Mr. Panuska's symptoms did not resolve in a few months, Dr. Miller told him that some people take longer than others to recover from a brain contusion. (R. Exh. Vol. 2, Gen. Exh. 6, p. 74). Dr. Miller thought that the Dilantin may have been causing Mr. Panuska's symptoms as evidenced by Dr. Miller's note of May 3, 1999 stating that "He is better from hit on the head, but having strange feelings from Dilantin." (R. Vol. 4, p. 275). When Mr. Panuska's symptoms had still not resolved, Dr. Miller told Mr. Panuska "that can't happen" (R. Exh. Vol. 2, Gen. Exh. 6, p. 74).

In January, 2000, still not having found the source of the problem, Dr. Miller ordered an EEG (R. Vol. 4, p. 268) and referred Mr. Panuska to Dr. Harrington, a neurologist, thinking that she could find the problem. Mr. Panuska first saw Dr. Harrington on February 10, 2000 and Dr. Harrington attempted to find the source of Mr. Panuska's problem for several months throughout the year 2000, but could not. She finally suggested to Mr. Panuska that it may be an inner ear injury that was causing his problems and on August 23, 2000, Dr. Harrington referred Mr. Panuska to the Shea ear clinic. Mr. Panuska was not diagnosed with the traumatic inner ear injury until September 6, 2000 and it was Dr. Fetterman who first diagnosed his injury and, in his opinion, the injury is permanent and debilitating.

Dr. Fetterman uncovered <u>a separate injury</u> that was sustained in conjunction with the brain contusion (diagnosed by Dr. Miller) and the brain (hemorrhagic)

concussion (diagnosed by Dr. Miller and Dr. McKibben) and that was that Mr. Panuska had a labyrinth concussion (traumatic injury to the inner ear).

In the May 3, 1999, office note, Dr. Miller noted that the CT scan indicated that the cerebral contusion had resolved (R. Vol. 4, p. 275). The separate inner ear injury was not diagnosed until September 6, 2000. Prior to the discovery of the separate inner ear injury, Mr. Panuska had no reason to know that he had any injury other than the brain concussion/brain contusion which he had been told by a medical doctor would subside. Mr. Panuska just thought he was taking a little bit longer than other people to get better but that at some point he would get better and he based this on what his doctors had told him. (R. Exh. Vol. 2, Gen. Exh. 6, p. 46).

- Mr. Panuska testified as follows at his deposition:
- Q. But the way it was explained to you by Dr. Federman (sic), the hemorrhagic concussion is that different from –
- A. Oh, yes, that is a completely different form.
- Q. --- from what Dr. Federman has diagnosed?
- A. Yes. My concussion problem is apparently gone, but I have a traumatic damage to the inner ear sustained during that blow, so, yes, it gave me the regular concussion but it also damaged the inner ear at the same time.
- Q. And the concussion that Dr. Federman has diagnosed is -
- A. Well, that's called a traumatic, I think he calls it a traumatic labyrinthine concussion, I-a-b-y-r-I-n-t-h-I-n-e, labyrinthine, and the labyrinthine is an inner ear, portion of the inner ear, and so when he uses labyrinthine concussion, he is saying that is damage to the inner ear.
- Q. And that's different from the first concussion?
- A. Completely. Everybody said you have a head problem, and he was

the first one to diagnose an ear problem.

(Gen. Ex. 6, Panuska Dep, p. 80).

The medical records of Dr. Miller and Dr. Harrington (R. Vol. 4, p. 268-300) attest that Mr. Panuska acted with reasonable care and diligence in seeking medical treatment. He sought treatment from a family doctor, neurosurgeon, neurologist, and was finally referred to an ear doctor, the proper specialist in this case. He was told that he had a brain injury but he nor his doctors knew of his inner ear injury until September 6, 2000. The Mississippi Supreme Court in Struthers Wells-Gulfport, Inc. v. Brandford, 304 So. 2d 645 (Miss. 1974) held that "this state's laws do not penalize workers when they, with their physician's assistance, cannot confirm that their injuries are compensable."

The Employer and Carrier argues in its brief (page 21, Brief of Appellant) that the Administrative Judge and the Full Commission committed reversible error when they made no finding of fact as to "when Mr. Panuska should have known, as a reasonable man, that his head injury and residuals from that injury were work related." (See Brief of Appellant, page 21). It is implicit in the Administrative Judge's findings that Mr. Panuska could not have known that his ear injury was compensable until September 6, 2000, the date on which the Administrative Judge found that the statute of limitations began to run. Mr.Panuska, as a reasonable man, could not known that the ear injury was a compensable work related injury until that injury was discovered. The Administrative Judge specifically found in his Order of May 9, 2003 (R.E. 4, R. Vol. 3, page 150) that "the labyrinthine concussion was not discovered until September 6, 2000, at which time the Statute began to run

concerning that condition." Under the Mississippi Worker's Compensation Act, the Employer is required to pay compensation only for a disability that is support by medical findings. *Struthers Well-Gulfport, Inc., supra* at 649. Mr. Panuska's injury was not supported by any medical findings until Dr. Fetterman diagnosed the ear injury on September 6, 2000.

In *Tabor Motor Company v. Garrard*, 233 So. 2d 811 (Miss. 1970), the Supreme Court pointed out that the statute of limitations begins to run from the date of the injury and not from the date of the accident. It was this case that was cited by the Administrative Judge in his initial Order denying the Employer and Carrier's motion to dismiss. The claimant in *Tabor* was welding under an automobile while lying on the ground when a hot spark (which later was found to be a piece of slag) from the cutting torch fell in his left ear. The claimant went to the company physician who treated him for the accident and did not regard it as of a serious nature. During the same month that the accident happened, he was seen again by the company physician who sent him to an ear specialist.

The ear specialist diagnosed a perforated left ear drum and discharged him as cured. Even after he was supposedly cured, the claimant had other problems – drainage of the ear, headaches and dizziness — and saw the company physician again. He went back to the ear doctor complaining of an ear infection. The ear specialist referred the claimant to Dr. Shea, a specialist in otology and over two years after the accident, Dr. Shea, during an operation found a piece of slag in the claimant's ear and removed it. Dr. Shea advised the claimant that the slag which had apparently fallen into his ear over two years ago, was causing his dizziness and

related physical problems. The slag had burned a hole in the ear drum and penetrated the middle ear out of the eyesight of examining physicians.

The Mississippi Supreme Court held that the two-year statute of limitations did not bar the claimant's claim for worker's compensation benefits. *Id.* at 814. The Court interpreted the Mississippi Worker's Compensation Act to date the claim period from the date that the compensable injury becomes apparent and not from the date of the accident.

The facts in *Benoist Elevator Company, Inc. & U.S. F & G. Co. v. Mitchell*, 485 So. 2d 1068 (Miss. 1986) and other cases cited by the employer and carrier in its brief can be distinguished from the facts of our case. The claimant in *Benoist Elevator Company, Inc. & U.S. F & G. Co. v. Mitchell*, 485 So. 2d 1068 (Miss. 1986), had previously been compensated with partial disability payments for a known injury to his finger, thus, the Supreme Court held, he had not sustained a latent injury. Mr. Panuska did not know that he had the injury --a labyrinthine concussion --until September 6, 2000.

In Speed Mechanical, Inc. v. Taylor, 342 So. 2d 317 (Miss. 1977) another case cited by the Employer/Carrier, there was no latent or unknown injury presented. Jordan v. Pace, 2002 WL 82677 (Miss. App. 2002) likewise does not apply to this case. There was no latent aspect of Ms. Jordan's injury.

In this case, Mr. Panuska had been told by Dr. Miller that his symptoms would resolve. (R. Exh. Vol. 1, Gen. Exh. 1, p. 22 & 23). The first time that he or any of his physicians knew that Mr. Panuska had an inner ear injury as a result of the accident was when his traumatic ear injury was diagnosed by Dr. Fetterman on

September 6, 2000. It was not until this diagnosis that his condition was known to by any physician or by Mr. Panuska to be permanent and disabling.

The employer and carrier cite as authority, in support of their position to reverse the Full Commission and the Gircuit Court, the Court of Appeals decision in *Parchman v. Amwood Products, Inc.* 2007 WL 239509 (Miss. App. 2007), a case that has now been reversed by the Mississippi Supreme court on statute of limitations grounds. *Parchman v. Amwood Products, Inc.*, 2008 WL 2373035 (Miss. 2008). Even if the case had not been reversed by the Mississippi Supreme Court, the Court of Appeals decision in *Parchman, supra*, did not apply to this case because Mr. Panuska and all his treating physicians did not know that he had an ear injury until the ear injury was discovered on September 6, 2000.

The Employer and Carrier argue that *Morris v. Landell's Frame Co.*, 547
So. 2d 782 (Miss. 1989) and *Howard Industries v. Robinson*, 846 So. 2d 245 (Ct of App. 2003) are controlling. The Employer and Carrier have misinterpreted the *Morris* case. The *Morris* case speaks to the issue of pain and whether disabling pain in the absence of positive medical testimony as to the cause of that pain is compensable under the Act. The Mississippi Supreme Court held that in cases based predominantly upon pain, it is prudent to obtain medical evidence to either support or dispute the claim of pain *Morris*, supra at 785 but reinstated the Commission's award based upon the standard for review of Commission rulings --that Appellate Courts are bound by the Commission's rulings if supported by substantial evidence even if the evidence would convince the Appellate Court

otherwise. Morris, supra, at 784 & 785.

The Court of Appeals in Howard Industries v. Robinson, supra, at 252, confirms that a claim of disability must be supported by medical findings. Mr. Panuska had no medical support for any claim of disability for his ear injury until there were medical findings that he did have an ear injury, that it was causing his symptoms and that this ear injury was a direct result of his work related accident. Under the Employer and Carrier's theory that the statute of limitations began to run before Mr. Panuska's ear injury was discovered, Mr. Panuska should have filed his Petition to Controvert not knowing what was causing his symptoms and when there was no medical evidence to support a claim. Therefore, Mr. Panuska could have filed his Petition to Controvert and then later learned that there was some other cause of his symptoms. What if he had found out that he had a brain tumor or some other neurological problem that was not related to his on the job accident? He had been told by his physician that his brain contusion was not causing his symptoms. He was making every effort to determine the cause of his symptoms and the cause was not discovered until September 6, 2000.

В.

THE FAILURE TO FILE A B-3, FIRST REPORT OF INJURY, IS ONLY RELEVANT IF THIS COURT REVERSES THE FULL COMMISSION AND THE CIRCUIT COURT ON THE ISSUE OF WHEN THE INJURY WAS DISCOVERED

The failure to file the B-3, First Report of Injury, was not an issue before the first Administrative Judge when he ruled that the statute of limitations had not

#### COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL AND/OR RES JUDICATA BAR RE-LITIGATION OF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS ISSUE ALREADY DECIDED BY THE FULL COMMISSION

The Employer and Carrier did not appeal the Full Commission's Order of October 21, 2003 which affirmed Judge Henry's denial of the Employer/Carrier's Motion to Dismiss and his denial of the employer/carrier's Motion to Reconsider. Therefore, the Administrative Judge's Order in this case of May 9, 2003 (on the statute of limitations issue) became final when the Employer and Carrier did not appeal the Full Commission's Order.

Under the doctrine of Res Judicata, a former judgment on the merits, between the same parties, in a court of competent jurisdiction, is conclusive and final as to an issue actually litigated and determined in the former action, and which issue is essential to the maintenance of a second action between them. *Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Espinosa*, 469 So. 2d 64 (Miss. 1985).

Collateral estoppel prevents a litigant from retrying a material issue which has already been finally decided in another proceeding. *Miss. Employment Security Comm. v. Philadelphia Municipal Separate School District*, 437 So. 2d 388 (Miss. 1983); *City of Jackson v. Holliday*, 149 So. 2d 525 (Miss. 1963).

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